FILED
02-20-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

District IV Appeal No. 2022AP001958 Circuit Court Case No. 2022CV00043

KARIN EICHHOFF, STEVEN SPEER AND RODERICK RUNYAN,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

NEW GLARUS BREWING COMPANY AND DEBORAH A. CAREY,

Defendants-Respondents.

On Appeal from the Order and Judgment of the Green County Circuit Court, Honorable Faun Marie Phillipson, Branch 1, Presiding, dated October 6, 2022

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the Plaintiffs-Appellants' detailed Amended Complaint state a claim under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430?

Circuit court answered: No. The circuit court concluded that the Amended Complaint failed to state a claim based on a parenthetical in the "wherefore" clause of the Amended Complaint, which merely explained that the Plaintiffs-Appellants' preferred remedy was not judicial dissolution.

2. Is a circuit court sitting in equity entitled to fashion alternative remedies to dissolution if it finds that the elements of Wis. Stat. § 180.1430 have been established?

Circuit court answered: No. The circuit court concluded that the only remedy available under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430 is dissolution, despite substantial legal authority to the contrary.

3. Did the Plaintiffs-Appellants' Amended Complaint state a claim for securities fraud under Wis. Stat. § 551.501?

Circuit court answered: No. The circuit court concluded that the Amended Complaint failed to state a claim for securities fraud because the Defendants set the market for the Plaintiffs' shares, the Plaintiffs agreed to the purchase price, and therefore Defendants did not make any misrepresentations or omissions.

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 9 of 43

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiffs-Appellants do not request oral argument. Publication is appropriate because there is very little published case law regarding Wis. Stat. § 180.1430, particularly the equitable remedies available under the statute. Furthermore, the scope of equitable remedies in the context of judicial dissolution is an issue that has repeatedly arisen in past cases, and resolving this issue will provide guidance to the bench and bar in future disputes.

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 10 of 43

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This appeal concerns whether the Plaintiffs-Appellants' Amended Complaint states a claim under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430 and Wis. Stat. § 551.501. The Defendants-Respondents moved to dismiss the Complaint¹ on various grounds, including failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. The circuit court granted the motion to dismiss the claim under § 180.1430 because the wherefore clause of the Complaint contained a parenthetical stating that the Shareholders were not asking the court to dissolve New Glarus Brewing Company (the "Brewery"), but were instead seeking alternative remedies. The circuit court further concluded that judicial dissolution was the only available remedy under § 180.1430. The circuit court held that the securities fraud claim under § 551.501 failed to state a claim because the Brewery "set the market for Plaintiffs' shares in the transactions at issue based upon nothing more than a dollar figure known to both seller and purchaser" and therefore "no material misrepresentations or omissions could have been made." (R.54:7, APP-007).

II. Procedural History

The original complaint was filed in August 2021 in the Dane County Circuit Court. (R.16). The Defendants moved to change venue, which the Dane County Circuit Court granted in part. (R.16). The claim under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430 was dismissed and refiled in Green County Circuit Court on March 8, 2022. (R.16). The Shareholders filed an Amended Complaint on May 23, 2022, which added a securities fraud claim.

The Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss. The circuit court issued a written decision granting the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss on October 6, 2022, and the Shareholders timely appealed.

_

¹ The operative complaint is an Amended Complaint; it will be referred to as the "Complaint." The Plaintiffs-Appellants will be referred to as the "Shareholders," the Defendants-Respondents as the "Defendants", and Deborah Carey as "Carey."

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 11 of 43

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants Karin Eichhoff (through her husband, Dierk), Steven Speer, and Roderick Runyan were among the original investors in the Brewery, which started in 1993 as an idea among friends. (R.32, ¶¶1, 5, APP-014). Dan Carey (the Brewmaster) was successfully developing beer recipes. (Id.). Speer thought the timing of the craft brewing market, combined with Dan's skills, could be grown into a successful business. (Id.).

Speer spent a summer working with Dan Carey and Deborah Carey on a detailed business plan. (R.32, ¶¶5-10, APP-014-016). Speer invested \$25,000 in the Brewery, which he had recently inherited. (Id.). Speer convinced his friend Dierk Eichhoff to invest as well. (Id.). Runyan was also an initial investor, having previously invested in a successful brewpub. (Id.). The Investors contributed significant start-up funds and effort to transform the Brewery from a concept into an operational business. (R.32, ¶¶6-8, APP-015).

As the Brewery's successes have grown, so have Deborah Carey's efforts to increase her control. (R.32, ¶¶16-18, APP-016-017). Carey is the Brewery's President, CEO, sole director, and controlling shareholder. (R.32, ¶3, APP-014). Carey utilizes her position to run the Brewery however she sees fit and for her own benefit. (R.32, ¶18, APP-017-018).

The Shareholders invested in the Brewery with reasonable expectations: to be treated fairly and to have a chance to share in the Brewery's financial success. (R.32, ¶¶14-18, APP-016-017). Initially, these expectations were met. (Id.). This has become less and less true over the years, as Carey's iron grip over the Brewery has strengthened. (Id.).

As further detailed in the Argument below, the Shareholders allege they have been oppressed by Defendants, whose oppressive and fraudulent actions include:

- Carey secretly exempting herself from the Shareholder Agreement.
- Defendants refusing to distribute profits beyond the minimum to cover the shareholders' tax obligations, despite having \$40 million in cash on

hand.

• Defendants working to depress the value of the minority shareholders' shares and ensure a lack of a market for the shares.

 Defendants pushing the Shareholders to sell their voting shares to the Brewery at values set by Defendants, without providing them full information regarding the value of the shares.

(R.32, ¶18, APP-017-018).

Defendants' oppressive conduct came to a head in 2021, when Defendants pushed the Shareholders to sign a new shareholder agreement that would have significantly restricted the Shareholders' rights. (R.32, ¶¶154-156, APP-042-043). Due to the increasingly oppressive conduct, the Shareholders filed suit against Defendants, pursuing claims for: (1) breach of fiduciary duty against Carey; (2) minority shareholder oppression under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430; and (3) securities fraud under Wis. Stat. § 551.501.² (R. 16; R.32, ¶¶158-208, APP-044-059). This appeal concerns the Green County Circuit Court's dismissal of the Shareholders' oppression and securities fraud claims. The circuit court erred by dismissing these claims with prejudice, and the Shareholders ask this Court to reverse the circuit court's decision.

² The breach of fiduciary duty claim is not part of this appeal.

12

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 13 of 43

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from the circuit court's order granting the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss for failure to state a claim. "A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint." *Data Key Partners v. Permira Advisers LLC*, 2014 WI 86, ¶19, 356 Wis. 2d 665, 849 N.W.2d 693. "Upon a motion to dismiss, [the Court] accept[s] as true all facts well-pleaded in the complaint and the reasonable inferences therefrom." *Id.* "Whether a complaint adequately pleads a cause of action is a question of law [the Court] review[s] de novo." *Vogel v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 214 Wis. 2d 443, 447, 571 N.W.2d 704 (Ct. App. 1997).

ARGUMENT

I. THE SHAREHOLDERS' COMPLAINT STATED A CLAIM FOR SHAREHOLDER OPPRESSION AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT BASED ON A PARENTHETICAL IN THE WHEREFORE CLAUSE, WHICH FORMS NO PART OF THE COMPLAINT.

The circuit court dismissed the Shareholders' claim for relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 180.1430(2)(b) based on a parenthetical contained in the Complaint's "wherefore" clause, also known as the prayer for relief. In so doing, the circuit court ignored black letter law that the wherefore clause does not negate the validity of a claim, or the court's authority to order appropriate relief – including dissolution of the Brewery. The portion of the Complaint upon which the circuit court based its decision stated:

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs seek judgment against Defendants as follows:

A. The remedies under Wis. Stat. §§ 180.1430(2)(b) and 180.1432 and the Court's equitable powers, including, but not limited to, a judicial order requiring that Defendants acquire Plaintiffs' shares at fair value (To be clear, Plaintiffs are not seeking relief that the court order a complete dissolution of the Brewery, nor the winding up of the Brewery's affairs, but rather order equitable relief that will protect and make whole the Plaintiffs and other minority shareholders).

(R. 32:49-50, APP-058-059). The circuit court concluded that the only form of relief

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 14 of 43

available under § 180.1430 is dissolution, and that the Shareholders failed to state a claim by indicating their preference that the Brewery not be dissolved. (R. 54:9, APP-009). The court implicitly determined it had no power to grant dissolution even if the Shareholders were to establish entitlement to relief on their § 180.1430 claim, simply because they expressed that they preferred alternative remedies in the prayer for relief.

The crux of the circuit court's reasoning was as follows:

- Wisconsin Stat. § 180.1430 "provides that in certain circumstances (such as the 'oppressive conduct' alleged in this case) the 'circuit court ... may dissolve a corporation in a proceeding"
- "Wis. Stat. § 180.1431 then provides the 'procedure for judicial dissolution[.]""
- Applying the "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning" of the language in Wis. Stat. §§ 180.1430 and 180.1431, a plaintiff pursuing a claim under these statutes may only seek dissolution.
- Because the Complaint's wherefore clause requested an alternative form
 of relief other than an order requiring a complete dissolution of the
 Brewery, the Shareholders failed to state a claim under § 180.1430(2)(b).
 (R.54:8-9, APP-008-009).

Section II of this Brief will address the circuit court's error in concluding that the only relief available under § 180.1430 is judicial dissolution. This Section will address the circuit court's error in: (1) dismissing the Complaint based on relief requested in the wherefore clause; (2) conflating the cause of action with the remedy; and (3) concluding that the Complaint failed to state a claim under § 180.1430.

A. The "Wherefore" Clause of a Complaint Cannot Be Considered In Determining Whether a Cause of Action Has Been Stated.

The circuit court ignored 208 paragraphs of allegations supporting the Shareholders' claim, and concluded the claim failed because the wherefore clause stated the Shareholders' preference that the court grant less drastic equitable relief.

In essence, the circuit court applied a rule of magic words: even though the Complaint contained detailed allegations and identified that the claim was being filed under § 180.1430, the Shareholders failed to use the magic words of "judicial dissolution" properly and, therefore, dismissal was warranted. This is antithetical to Wisconsin's pleading standards. *See Farr v. Alternative Living Servs., Inc.*, 2002 WI App 88, ¶11, 253 Wis. 2d 790, 643 N.W.2d 841 ("[A] pleading need only notify the opposing party of the pleader's position in the case – no 'magic words' are required.").

The circuit court further erred by focusing on the <u>wherefore</u> clause. The wherefore clause of a complaint is not determinative of whether a cause of action has been stated. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court held: "We cannot consider the 'wherefore' clause of the complaint to determine whether a cause of action is stated. <u>It forms no part of the complaint</u>." *Mayer v. Mayer*, 26 Wis. 2d 671, 678, 133 N.W.2d 322 (1965) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The wherefore clause, also called the "ad damnum" clause, "is no substantive part of a complaint and the fact that the plaintiff 'asks for more relief than that which his pleaded facts entitle him to have is not reached by demurrer." *D'Angelo v. Cornell Paperboard Products Co.*, 19 Wis. 2d 390, 398, 120 N.W.2d 70 (1962) (citations omitted). "[T]he ad damnum clause is not a substantive part of the complaint' and 'is nothing more than an asking price." *Baumann v. Elliott*, 2005 WI App 186, ¶15, 286 Wis. 2d 667, 704 N.W.2d 361 (citations omitted).

The wherefore clause simply contained the Shareholders' preferred form of relief—a judicial order requiring that the Defendants acquire the Shareholders' shares at fair value—rather than an order dissolving the Brewery. This was nothing more than the Shareholders' "asking price." *Id.* It was not a substantive part of the Complaint. The substance was contained in the preceding 208 paragraphs, which contained detailed allegations notifying the other parties of the Shareholders' claims. The circuit court's reliance on the wherefore clause was erroneous.

The "asking price" is even less relevant in this case because a court sitting in equity has the power to "apply an equitable remedy as necessary to meet the needs

of the ... case." *Mulder v. Mittelstadt*, 120 Wis. 2d 103, 115, 352 N.W.2d 223 (Ct. App. 1984). Regardless of the relief requested in the Complaint, the circuit court was empowered to fashion the remedy it deemed appropriate. Indeed, the circuit court could still ultimately have ordered the Brewery dissolved regardless of the Shareholders' demand for relief. Instead, the circuit court determined without explanation that not only was dissolution the only relief available, but that it was somehow powerless to grant that relief. The circuit court erred by concluding the Complaint failed to state a claim under § 180.1430 based on the content of the wherefore clause, which "forms no part of the complaint." *Mayer*, 26 Wis. 2d at 678.

B. The Circuit Court Conflated the Cause of Action With the Remedy.

The circuit court also erred by conflating the cause of action alleged with the remedy requested. "A cause of action is distinguished from a remedy which is the means or method whereby the cause of action is effectuated." *Tikalsky v. Friedman*, 2019 WI 56, ¶15, 386 Wis.2d 757, 928 N.W.2d 502 (citations omitted). "[A] cause of action owes its existence to a set of operative facts." *Wussow v. Commercial Mechanisms, Inc.*, 97 Wis. 2d 136, 145-46, 293 N.W.2d 897. "[T]he remedy or relief sought should not be confused with the concept of a cause of action." *Id.* "[I]t is the operative facts ... that determine the unit to be denominated as the cause of action, not the remedy or type of damage sought." *Id.* at 146. A cause of action "is concerned with 'whether the claim is enforceable at all," which is a different question from the "remedy ... afforded." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Here, the cause of action is for minority shareholder oppression pursuant to § 180.1430(2)(b). The showing of oppressive conduct is the mechanism by which the court acquires jurisdiction under the governing statute to consider a remedy. *See Baker v. Commercial Body Builders, Inc.*, 264 Or. 614, 631, 507 P.2d 387 (1973) (a showing of oppressive conduct "may be sufficient *to confer jurisdiction* upon the court under [the dissolution statute]" although the court does not have to exercise that power) (emphasis added). Oppression is the claim the Shareholders must prove to show entitlement to relief. This cause of action is amply set out in the 208 paragraphs

of the Complaint. The circuit court glossed over all of those facts and based its dismissal on the Shareholders' *request* for an alternative remedy.

Moreover, the circuit court's decision also ignored its independent ability to order dissolution regardless of the parties' requested relief if they are successful on the merits. If the case were to proceed to a determination on the merits and the Shareholders proved oppression, the court could order judicial dissolution under § 180.1430(2)(b) regardless of what either party demanded. Instead, the circuit court implicitly ruled, incorrectly, that a plaintiff's requested remedy strips the court of its own authority to order specific relief provided by statute.

The circuit court's task was to determine whether "the alleged facts comprise one or more causes of action." *Tikalsky*, 386 Wis. 2d 757, ¶16. The Complaint sets out a detailed set of facts that comprise a cause of action under § 180.1430 and the circuit court's decision should be reversed.

C. The Complaint Stated a Claim Under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430.

To determine whether the Complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted, the Court must look to the factual allegations in the complaint. *Data Key*, 356 Wis. 2d 665, ¶18. The complaint must contain "[a] short and plain statement of the claim, identifying the transaction or occurrence ... out of which the claim arises and showing the pleader is entitled to relief." Wis. Stat. § 802.02(1)(a).

Claims for minority shareholder oppression must be alleged under § 180.1430, "Grounds for judicial dissolution," which states in pertinent part:

The circuit court for the county where the corporation's principal office ... is or was last located may dissolve a corporation in a proceeding ...

- (2) By a shareholder if any of the following is established:
- (b) that the directors or those in control of the corporation have acted, are acting, or will act in a manner that is illegal, oppressive or fraudulent.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has discussed judicial dissolution and shareholder oppression interchangeably. *See Northern Air Services, Inc. v. Link*, 2011 WI 75, ¶¶88-90, 336 Wis. 2d 1, 804 N.W.2d 458 (discussing a claim under § 180.1430 and

explaining that "[t]he purpose of a shareholder oppression claim is to provide a method of recourse to minority shareholders who are subject to 'burdensome, harsh and wrongful conduct at the hands of the majority shareholder."").

The Complaint articulated in great detail a claim under § 180.1430(2). It repeatedly identified the operative statute and the nature of the Shareholders' claim, including in the following portions:

- Paragraph 1 "The Plaintiffs ... pursue this action for <u>shareholder</u> oppression under Wis. Stat. § 180.1430(2)(b)."
- Paragraph 4 "Wisconsin law, <u>based on Section 180.1430(2)(b)</u>, protects minority shareholders from burdensome, harsh and wrongful conduct by directors and controlling shareholders, and from oppressive actions
 The Plaintiffs seek that protection in this case."
- Page 44 "Claim Two: Relief Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 180.1430(2) For Minority Shareholder Oppression."

(R.32, APP-014, APP-053). The Complaint invoked the applicable dissolution statute by repeatedly stating that the action was being brought under § 180.1430(2).

The circuit court's conclusion that the Shareholders failed to state a claim under § 180.1430(2) by informing the court and the other parties of their preference that the court not order the dissolution of the Brewery does not square with the text of the Complaint. The Complaint repeatedly invokes § 180.1430(2) and states in plain terms that the Shareholders are seeking protection from burdensome, harsh, and oppressive conduct. "[A] pleading must give the defending party fair notice of ... the ... claim [and] the grounds upon which it rests" *Clark v. League of Wisconsin Municipalities Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2021 WI App 21, ¶28 n. 10, 397 Wis. 2d 220, 959 N.W.2d 648 (citations omitted). The Complaint satisfied this requirement.

The Complaint is extremely detailed, mapping out exactly how the Shareholders allege they have been oppressed. A summary of the key allegations regarding Defendants' oppressive conduct is as follows:

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2023 Page 19 of 43

• Carey Exempts Herself and Her Family from the Shareholder Agreement.

- Carey secretly exempted herself from the Shareholder Agreement that binds all other shareholders, thus ensuring that she was not bound by the stock transfer restrictions in the Shareholder Agreement.
- The Shareholder Agreement states that the "Corporation agrees to require all future shareholders ... to execute this Agreement." Despite this language Carey transferred shares of her stock to her daughter and her daughter's trust, and secretly exempted her family from being bound by the Shareholder Agreement. (R.32, ¶¶55-65, 82, APP-025-030).

• Carey Fails to Inform Shareholders of Corporate Business and Ignores Conflicts of Interest.

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