FILED 04-05-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2022AP001958

KARIN EICHHOFF, STEVEN SPEER, AND RODERICK RUNYAN,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

VS.

NEW GLARUS BREWING COMPANY AND DEBORAH A. CAREY,

Defendants-Respondents.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Green County The Honorable Faun Marie Phillipson, Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 2022CV00043

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT NEW GLARUS BREWING COMPANY

GODFREY & KAHN, S.C. Anthony S. Baish, Bar No. 1031577 David R. Konkel, State Bar No. 1097244 833 East Michigan Street, Suite 1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202-5615

Phone: 414-273-3500 Fax: 414-273-5198

Attorneys for New Glarus Brewing Company

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

C. Precedential and non-precedential case law demonstrate that the Dissident Minority Shareholders are not oppressed shareholders being squeezed out of a business because they are not subject to disparate treatment in contravention of their reasonable expectations.

Lacking allegations to support a cognizable oppression claim, the Dissident Minority Shareholders declare they are victims of a "squeeze out." (App. Br. at 39.) They are not. *Jorgensen*, 218 Wis. 2d 761, the leading case in oppression, illustrates what a genuine "squeeze out" looks like.

In *Jorgensen*, a husband and wife were founding members of a corporation, along with four other shareholders. 218 Wis. 2d at 781. All shareholders were members of the board of directors and received the same weekly payments. *Id*. After the husband complained about the activity of other directors, he and his wife were removed from the board. *Id*. Further, the other shareholders terminated payments to the husband and wife but continued the make weekly payments to themselves. *Id*.

None of that has occurred here. The Dissident Minority Shareholders are just three of twenty-five shareholders. They were never directors; Carey has always been the only director of the Brewery. They have never been stripped of any management authority or duties, because they never had any. The Brewery has not terminated payments of dividends to them. Rather, it continues to pay all shareholders dividends on the same terms, sufficient to at least cover their respective tax liabilities. Far from departing from the Dissident Minority Shareholders' reasonable expectations, the Brewery's calculation of distributions

remains consistent with its historical practices and its commitments at its founding.

It is the Dissident Minority Shareholders who demand a departure from their reasonable expectations, because they no longer want to honor the foundational documents that have governed their investments from the outset and that specify—in black and white—the Brewery's commitments on distributions, the Brewery's corporate governance structure, and Carey's ownership of a majority of the voting shares.

The Dissident Minority Shareholders' claims fare no better under the non-Wisconsin authority they cited in the Circuit Court:

- In *Res v. Rodd Electrotype Co. of New England, Inc.*, the plaintiffs complained the corporation would not purchase their shares on the same terms offered to another shareholder. 328 N.E.2d 505, 510-11 (Mass. 1975). Here, Plaintiffs do not complain that the Brewery would not purchase their shares, but rather that it did so on the same terms it offered to every shareholder. (Am. Comp. ¶¶ 140–142; APP-039-040.)
- In Fox v. 7L Bar Ranch Co., the plaintiff complained that "[s]ince its inception the [corporation] has not declared any dividends" and that he "never received dividends or remuneration of any kind from the [corporation], nor have any of the other stockholders." 645 P.2d 929, 931 (Mont 1982). Here, the Plaintiffs admit to having received dividends. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 74–77, 171, 188, 195–96; APP-028-029, 047, 054-055.)
- In *McMullin v. Beran*, which notably applied the business judgment rule under Delaware law, the plaintiffs challenged the sale of the "entire corporation to a third party at the behest of the majority shareholder," claiming that the board of directors failed to conduct a critical assessment of the offer and then to make an independent determination about whether it maximized value for all shareholders. 765 A.2d 910, 918–20 (Del. 2000). Here, the Plaintiffs speculate about the possibility of a sale at some unknown time to some unknown buyer that Carey "refuses" to consider. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 18, 96; APP-017-018, 032.)

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-05-2023 Page 33 of 48

• In his Duke University Law Journal article, Professor Moll explains that "[c]ommon freeze-out techniques include the refusal to declare dividends, the termination of a minority shareholder's employment, the removal of a minority shareholder from a position of management, and the siphoning off of corporate earnings through high compensation to the majority shareholder." Douglas K. Moll, *Shareholder Oppression and "Fair Value": Of Discounts, Dates, and Dastardly Deeds in the Close Corporation*, 54 Duke L. J. 293, 301 (2004). None of that is alleged here. The Brewery has declared dividends, none of the Plaintiffs was ever a paid employee or in a "position of management" at the Brewery, and there is no allegation that Carey is overpaid.

Indeed, the most analogous case to the Dissident Minority Shareholders' supposed oppression is *Reget*. 2001 WI App 73, 242 Wis. 2d 278, 626 N.W.2d 302. Like *Reget*, the Dissident Minority Shareholders complain that the Brewery has not purchased their shares at a price that they (now) deem acceptable. Like *Reget*, the Dissident Minority Shareholders complain about their dividends, even though they are treated exactly the same as every other shareholder, including Carey. And like *Reget*, the Dissident Minority Shareholders feign concern about the compensation and benefits afforded to Carey, her husband, and her daughter. Yet nowhere in the Amended Complaint do the Dissident Minority Shareholders allege facts supporting a conclusion that the Carey family is unqualified or overpaid. Just as in *Reget*, there is no oppression here as a matter of law. *Id.* at \$\Pi 25-26.

I. THE DISSIDENT MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS
UNPARTICULARIZED AND UNTIMELY CLAIMS
FOR SECURITIES FRAUD DO NOT PLEAD ANY
MISREPRESENTATIONS OF FACT BY THE BREWERY
OR CAREY.

A. The Dissident Minority Shareholders' claims were properly dismissed because the Brewery's offering price was not a representation of the value of the shares.

To state a claim under Section 551.501(2), the Dissident Minority

Shareholders must show that the Brewery made an "untrue statement of a material fact" or that it omitted "a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading."

At oral argument and again in its written decision, the Circuit Court cut through the noise in the Dissident Minority Shareholders' 208-paragraph complaint and recognized that the Brewery made no actionable statements at all in connection with its purchase of Speer's and Eichhoff's shares. (Am. Compl. ¶ 177; APP-048-052; R.54 Decision and Order; APP-001-009.) The Brewery was under no obligation to purchase the shares in the first place, or to do so at "fair market value" or any other particular value. Even now, as they attempt to manufacture a fraud claim on appeal, the Dissident Minority Shareholders cannot identify any false statement or omission of fact by the Brewery.

The Amended Complaint does not allege that the Brewery made any representation about the value of shares, because no such representation ever occurred. The offered price itself, which yielded an outstanding return of 20,000% to the Dissident Minority Shareholders, does not constitute such a representation

as a matter of law. "[I]t is well-settled in Wisconsin law that a representation of purchase price, absent proof of artifice or trick, will be treated as an opinion of the value rather than as a representation of fact." *Jersild v. Aker*, 766 F. Supp. 713, 718 (E.D. Wis. 1991) (citing *Kraft v. Wodill*, 17 Wis. 2d 425, 431, 117 N.W.2d 261 (1962); *Morgan v. Hodge*, 145 Wis. 143, 148, 129 N.W. 1083 (1911)); *see also BioConvergence, LLC v. Menefee*, 103 N.E.3d 1141, 1150 (Ind. Ct. App. 2018) ("Because statements of value are regarded as mere expressions of opinion, Plaintiff cannot state a claim for actionable fraud based upon Defendants' representation regarding the units' valuation."); *Loula v. Snap-On Tools Corp.*, 175 Wis. 2d 50, 54, 498 N.W.2d 866 (Ct. App. 1993) ("Statements of value, in general, as well as predictions as to profits to be made from the thing sold, fall into the same class of statements not to be relied on" as representations of fact).

None of the authority cited in the Dissident Minority Shareholders' opening brief alters what is actually alleged—and not alleged—in the Amended Complaint. First, *Kohler v. Kohler*, 319 F.2d 634 (7th Cir. 1963), a 60-year-old case applying outdated federal law,³ has never been cited by a Wisconsin court for any purpose. Yet the Dissident Minority Shareholders claim that *Kohler* imposes a new burden, not argued below, on the Brewery to disclose additional information – "corporate financial statements and projections" (App. Br. at 39) – to a shareholder selling shares.

2

³ See Sec. & Exch. Comm'n v. Jakubowski, 150 F.3d 675 (7th Cir. 1998) (recognizing Kohler's abrogation).

Regardless, the plaintiff in *Kohler* lost, because the Court specifically and repeatedly rejected proclamations of fraud predicated on "after-the-fact" complaining about accounting methods and omitted information that might have led to a higher valuation of the stock:

[R]ather, it appears to us from the facts found by the trial court and from the record as an 'after-the-fact' conclusion by plaintiff that the accounting treatment of the pension costs either should have been different than it was or that it should have been explained or clarified to him—something defendants may not be held to have anticipated under the circumstances.

319 F.2d at 640. Further, like the plaintiff in *Kohler*, the Dissident Minority Shareholders here were well acquainted with the Brewery's finances, having been shareholders since its founding and received reviewed annual financial statements for many years. *Id.* at 642. Nothing in the Amended Complaint can change the fact that the Brewery, just like the defendant in *Kohler*, merely offered a price based on a valuation done by an accredited independent third party known to the Dissident Minority Shareholders.

In their insistence that the Brewery was obliged to disclose "prior offers and valuations of the Brewery" (App. Br. at 36-41), the Dissident Minority Shareholders' position is inconsistent with existing Wisconsin law. *Ollerman v. O'Rourke Co.*, a case involving the sale of residential real estate and the non-disclosure of a well on the property, recognized a duty to disclose "facts which are known to the vendor, which are material to the transaction, and which are not readily discernible to the purchaser." 94 Wis. 2d 17, 42, 288 N.W.2d 95 (1980).

Case 2022AP001958 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-05-2023 Page 37 of 48

But as *Ollerman* itself acknowledged and the Wisconsin Supreme Court has emphasized since, this was a "narrow holding" that was "premised on certain policy considerations present in non-commercial real estate transactions." *Id.* at 41; *Tietsworth v. Harley-Davidson, Inc.*, 2004 WI 32, ¶ 14, 270 Wis. 2d 146, 677 N.W.2d 233. *Ollerman* and *Tietsworth* counsel that there is no such duty outside that narrow context.

Next, the Dissident Minority Shareholders cite a stray passage from another federal decision to impose a new duty on the Brewery. Rather than support the Dissident Minority Shareholders' claims, *Friedman v. Rayovac Corporation* refutes them. 295 F. Supp. 2d 957 (W.D. Wis. 2003). In *Friedman*, the court held that a duty to disclose arises when information will correct a representation that was made. *Id.* at 988. Here, the Amended Complaint never alleges that Brewery made any representation to the Dissident Minority Shareholders regarding share value, the Brewery's sales or growth, or any other matter that would require a supposedly corrective disclosure. Indeed, *Friedman* emphasized that it is not enough that "a reasonable investor would want to know an omitted fact." *Id.*

At bottom, as Judge Phillipson concluded, the allegations of the Amended Complaint, even accepted as true, establish nothing more than that the Brewery (or in Runyon's case, the ESOP) offered to buy shares at a certain price and that Dissident Minority Shareholders accepted, reaping an enormous profit. That is not securities fraud.

Beyond affirming that an offering price is not actionable fraud, this Court can affirm on the basis of other arguments considered, but not expressly relied upon, by the Circuit Court.

B. The Dissident Minority Shareholders' claims are untimely because they were aware months before the January 2019 sale that the ESOP valuation opinion was the basis for the offered purchase price.

In 2019, the Dissident Minority Shareholders profited approximately \$4,000,000 in selling their stock at \$2,071 per share. (Am. Compl. ¶ 174; APP-048; R.47 at Exs. 3, 4, 5.) The sales allegedly violated the Wisconsin Securities Act primarily because the Dissident Minority Shareholders did not receive complete copies of ESOP valuations that they claim to have requested at various times from 2013 to 2019. (Am. Compl. ¶ 177; APP-048-052.) "A person may not obtain relief [for a securities fraud violation] unless the action is instituted within the earlier of 2 years after discovery of the facts constituting the violation or 5 years after the violation." Wis. Stat. § 551.509(10)(b). That is, the 5-year bar starts running when a violation occurs, but the time limit for bringing an action is shortened to 2 years when the investor "discover[s] ... facts constituting the violation." That discovery occurs when "the defrauded party possesses sufficient knowledge to make a reasonable person aware of the need for diligent investigation." *Gygi v. Guest*, 117 Wis. 2d 464, 466-67, 344 N.W.2d 214 (Ct. App. 1984) (interpreting statutory predecessor to Section 551.509(10) with identical language triggering limitations period). While the Dissident Minority Shareholders contended in the Circuit Court that *Gygi* should be ignored because it addressed a prior version of the statute, they provided no support for the argument that the identical words mean something different now than they did when *Gygi* was decided in 1984. Nor did they identify case law holding or suggesting that *Gygi* has been abrogated or overruled. In fact, the opposite is true:

As soon as the defrauded party has "sufficient knowledge to make a reasonable person aware of the need for diligent investigation," the clock begins to run. *Stockman v. LaCroix*, 790 F.2d 584, 588 (7th Cir. 1986) (quoting *Gygi v. Guest*, 117 Wis. 2d 464, 344 N.W.2d 214, 215 (App.1984)).

KDC Foods, Inc. v. Gray, Plant, Mooty, Mooty & Bennett, P.A., 763 F.3d 743, 750 (7th Cir. 2014); see also Haney v. Bridge to Life, Ltd., No. 18 CV 5417, 2019 WL 1098921, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 8, 2019) (concluding that under federal law, Wisconsin law, and Wyoming law "[t]he two-year limitations periods run '(1) when the plaintiff did in fact discover, or (2) when a reasonably diligent plaintiff would have discovered, "the facts constituting the violation"—whichever comes first").

In short, the Dissident Minority Shareholders pleaded themselves out of court. Each of them allegedly requested ESOP valuations at different points prior to January 2019 in order to evaluate or analyze their potential sales. (Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 177b to d; APP-048-049.) The Brewery allegedly never provided the ESOP valuations. (*Id.* at ¶ 177e; APP-049.) Nevertheless, each of the Dissident Minority Shareholders decided to sell some of their voting shares for the offered price. (*Id.* at ¶ 179; APP-052; R.47 at Exs. 3, 4, 5.) That is, the Dissident Minority Shareholders allege that they knew—before they consummated the sale of their

shares—that they needed, had requested, and never received the complete "ESOP valuations reports" and other "detailed financial information.". (Am. Compl. at ¶ 178; APP-052.) Speer in particular acknowledged in writing that he did not have the ESOP valuation reports almost six months prior to January 2019, explaining that he had already decided to sell 625 shares but was "still interested in the full valuation report from Capital Valuation Group if you can share that." (R. 47 at Ex. 6.)

By their own allegations, then, the Dissident Minority Shareholders therefore had "sufficient knowledge to make a reasonable person aware of the need for diligent investigation" by July 2018 and possibly as early as the summer of 2015. (Am. Compl. ¶ 177; APP-048-052.) At the very latest, they possessed such knowledge when they sold their shares in January 2019. Whatever the precise starting point, their securities fraud claims brought in May 2022 are untimely.

C. The Amended Complaint does not allege the who, what, where, when, and how required to state a plausible claim for securities fraud.

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